
AGENDA 
VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 

PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 
Village Hall Auditorium 

9915 – 39th Avenue 

Pleasant Prairie, WI   
February 6, 2012 

6:00 p.m. 

 

 

1. Call to Order 
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance  
 

3. Roll Call 

 
4. Minutes of Meetings – January 16, 2012 

 
5. Citizen Comments (Please be advised per State Statute Section 19.84(2), information will be received 

from the public and there may be limited discussion on the information received.  However, no action will be 
taken under public comments.) 
 

6. Administrator’s Report 
 

7. New Business 
 

A. Consider Ordinance #12-06 for several Comprehensive Plan amendments for 
the development of the Lynch Chevrolet dealership to be located at 10901 
75th Street. 

 
B. Consider approval of a Certified Survey Map for properties located at 10901 

75th Street and the vacant lots located directly south of 10901 75th Street for 
the proposed Lynch Chevrolet dealership.  
 

C. Consider Ordinance #12-07 and #12-08 for Zoning Text and Zoning Map 
Amendments for the Lynch Chevrolet development to be located at 10901 

75th Street. 
 

D. Consider approval of a Digital Security Imaging System (DSIS) Agreement 

and Access Easement for the installation, inspection and operation of the 
DSIS for the proposed Lynch Chevrolet dealership to be located at 10901 75th 

Street. 
 

E. Consider approval of a Release of Easement for unnecessary utility 

easements on certain lots in the Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision for the 
development of the Lynch Chevrolet dealership to be located at 10901 75th 

Street. 

 



Village Board Agenda 
February 6, 2012 

 

2 

 

F. Consider architectural and engineering services agreement for the Police 

Department remodel project. 
 

G. Consider Resolution #12-03 - Preliminary Resolution declaring intent to 

exercise special assessment police powers in connection with the 
construction of public water main improvements located in the right-of-way 

of 9230 and 9243 32nd Avenue. 
 

H. Consider the request of Kenosha Velosport to conduct spring training races 

on March 11, 18 and 25, 2012 in LakeView Corporate Park. 
 

I. Consider Resolution #12-04 to approve the disposal of surplus Fire & Rescue 
Department radio equipment 
 

J. Consider Ordinance #12-09 to amend Chapter 194 of the Municipal Code 
relating to licensing hours. 

 
K. Ordinance #12-10 to amend Chapter 68 of the Municipal Code relating the 

Municipal Facilities. 

 
L. Consider Ordinance #12-11 to amend Chapter 150-6 of the Municipal Code 

relating to qualification requirements for contractors. 
 

M. Consider Operator License Applications on file. 

 
8. Village Board Comments 

 
9. Adjournment 
 

The Village Hall is handicapped accessible. If you have other special needs, please 
contact the Village Clerk, 9915 – 39th Avenue, Pleasant Prairie, WI (262) 694-1400 



VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 

PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 

PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 

9915 - 39th Avenue 

Pleasant Prairie, WI   

January 16, 2012 

6:00 p.m. 
 

 A regular meeting of the Pleasant Prairie Village Board was held on Monday, January 16, 2012.  

Meeting called to order at 6:00 p.m.  Present were Village Board members John Steinbrink, Monica 

Yuhas, Steve Kumorkiewicz, Clyde Allen and Mike Serpe.  Also present were Mike Pollocoff, Village 

Administrator; Tom Shircel, Assistant Administrator; Kathy Goessl, Finance Director/Treasurer; Brian 

Wagner, Police Chief; Doug McElmury, Interim Fire and Rescue Chief; Rocco Vita, Village Assessor; 

Mike Spence, Village Engineer; John Steinbrink Jr., Public Works Director; Ruth Otto, IT Director; Carol 

Willke, HR/Recreation Director and Jane Romanowski, Village Clerk. Thee citizens attended the 

meeting. 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

3. ROLL CALL 
 

4. MINUTES OF MEETINGS - DECEMBER 19, 2011 AND JANUARY 9, 2012 
 

 YUHAS MOVED TO APPROVE THE DECEMBER 19, 2011 AND JANUARY 9, 2012 

MINUTES OF THE VILLAGE BOARD MEETINGS AS PRESENTED IN THEIR WRITTEN 

FORM; SECONDED BY ALLEN; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 

 

5. CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 

Jane Romanowski: 

 

We had a signup, Carter O’Brien. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

We ask that you give us your name and address for the record. 

 

Carter O’Brien: 

 

Carter O’Brien, 12226 Lakeshore Drive.  Good evening.  While Ms. Werbie-Harris’ words to you 

on the December 19
th
 minutes say it, I did not ask that the Resolution 11-43 be tabled.  In 

preparing for the December 19
th
 meeting, I phoned her office around 3 p.m. and left a voice 

message asking if I was expected to put my objection in writing before the meeting.  Around 3:30 

I received a call from Ms. Werbie-Harris’ assistant Jan assuring me that it would be fine but not 

necessary.  So, I sat down to do that.  Then, right around 4:30 I got a second call from Jan who 

led me to believe she was doing me the favor of forewarning me that the item somehow was or 



Village Board Meeting 

January 16, 2012 

 

 

2 

would be tabled and moved to the January 16
th
 meeting agenda.  That’s not something I asked for 

or wanted.  I had prepared a statement to read and I dressed for it. 

 

Then I believe it was December 22
nd

 when I received a phone call from Jan inviting me to a 

meeting with Ms. Werbie-Harris and the Chiefs of Police and Fire January 6
th
.  The next day, 

December 23
rd

 after asking Secretary Romanowski about proper protocol, I emailed my objection 

statement to each of the Board members.  The January 6
th
 meeting lasted about one-half hour.  It 

was at that meeting that I was given a copy of the minutes of the December 19
th
 meeting showing 

that the item was not tabled and had already been acted upon. 

 

As embarrassing as that was, they encouraged me to share my arguments and gave me theirs.  A 

few days later Ms. Werbie-Harris phone me to let me know that I could still share my objections 

with the Board at this evening’s meeting.  Because I already emailed each of you my objections 

reproduced on the back side of this handout that I brought out tonight, and instead of reading 

them, I plan only to summarize them here. 

 

First, this proposed address makes it no easier, and in my opinion even more confusing than the 

more modest changes, the three other modest changes I’ve had since 1974.  As Chief Wagner told 

you last month the property is not visible from 122
nd

 Street.  My existing address is not out of 

sequence, it’s the other two listed in that resolution that are reversing their numbers and putting 

mine somehow in between them when it can’t even be seen from 122
nd

 Street and appears further 

east when you can see, like when there’s no foliage, is a major concern for me and I believe it 

should be for you. 

 

Second, the limestone drive that leads to the property is an easement from my ingress and egress 

and not a public drive.  We’ve had to post a private property sign out near 122
nd

 Street to deter to 

those reacting to the public lake access sign posted at 122
nd

 and 1
st
 Court a couple years ago.  I do 

believe you came up with the real solution for my address problem at the earlier meeting, proper 

signage at 122
nd

 and with accurate global positioning system coordinates for my address in the 

CAD and GIS systems, whatever those are.  And I would have added such a sign years ago if I 

thought I had a need or a right to post a sign on or in front of another’s property. 

 

Third and finally, as Ms. Werbie-Harris noted at the last meeting, changing someone’s address is 

not something that happens overnight.  It is a real ordeal for the homeowner, and the longer 

you’ve lived at an address the more changes you’re required to make and the more work it takes.  

In addition to your banks, your schools, your place of work, the government, 9-1-1, those are her 

words, don’t forget your family and friends.  Over the course of 30 plus years that is a hardship.  I 

can’t force family, friends or junk mailers to change their address books, and I’m here to try to 

help my mailman, Ken, by not requiring even more of his hand corrections and adding a new 

address stream of junk mail to his route.  Thank you very much.  Good evening. 

 

Jane Romanowski: 

 

There are no additional signups tonight, Mr. President. 

 

 



Village Board Meeting 

January 16, 2012 

 

 

3 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Anyone else wishing to speak under citizens’ comments?  Hearing none, I’ll close citizens’ 

comments. 

 

6. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 

Mike Pollocoff: 

 

Given the temperature I won’t go into a lot of detail, but I will ask that Chief McElmury come up.  

He has some comments that he’d like to make and he can do that under my item. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Then I won’t make the comment hot air would help. 

 

Chief McElmury: 

 

I’d just like to give the Board a brief synopsis of an ice rescue that took place on the 6
th
.  You 

may have seen we had some pretty good press over in the paper the following day.  On January 

6
th
 at 4:25 in the afternoon we were called to a child through the ice on the pond in the River 

Oaks Subdivision.  And once we were enroute we were told that it was an adult who was actually 

a 20-year old male and, in fact, he had gone through the ice.  He and his friend went out on the 

ice to see if the ice was – the 20-year old went out on the ice to see if the ice was thick enough so 

they could come back later on that night and ice fish.  It wasn’t. 

 

He went through roughly about 100 feet off of shore going to the island and was still clinging to 

the edge of the ice when we got there.  To give you an idea of the time line, we were dispatched 

at 4:25:26 and the whole thing was done and over by basically 4:34.  We were able to get on 

scene, get our equipment on, get out, get the individual, safely get him to shore and get him in an 

ambulance and get him warmed up, and all in a matter of just over 8 minutes.   

 

We had our primary rescuer, that’s the individual that actually goes out on the ice and actually 

puts a sling around the victim.  That’s kind of the highest risk position because the victim can pull 

you in the water, too, and kind of use you as a ladder to get out.  That was Aaron Longrie.  Brian 

Pagliaroni, both of which are fire medics, were able to – he was the backup.  He’s the guy who 

suited up and ready to go in case there’s a problem.  Then we had one of our paid on call 

members, Alan Cloherty, was the tender.  He was the one holding onto the rope at the other end.  

Lieutenant Tom Clark was in charge of his crews as they were getting there. 

 

We also had assistance from the police department.  We had officer Jerry Paul, Sergeant Keith 

Biernat  and Officer Chad Brown, and they really assisted in this truly joint effort.  They were 

looking for different things we could use as flotation and kind of looking at there were some 

boats there.  They were looking to see if they were chained up.  They really did a nice job.  And 

when it came time to actually pull the victim into shore they assisted in pulling him in, so he was 

in very quickly.  We were very fortunate, we had a very happy outcome to this.  He never went 



Village Board Meeting 

January 16, 2012 

 

 

4 

under the water.  We were able to get him out quickly.  We were able to get him warmed up and 

actually took him back to his house.  He didn’t even get taken to the hospital.  So years of training 

paid off, and a very competent crew of both fire and police personnel worked together and safety 

got him out. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Thank you, Chief.  I think all of us want to thank you and everybody for being involved.  You 

risked your lives doing this.  I think the only thing that came to my mind is I saw all the vehicles 

going by and rushing there, looking at that week’s weather and the temperatures what was this 

guy thinking? 

 

Chief McElmury: 

 

Exactly. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

But you guys train for this and through his carelessness or stupidity I guess you could even call it 

he put a lot of peoples’ lives in jeopardy.  Not only are you going there to have to rescue him, but 

enroute you have to rush there and that creates a lot of other problems, too.  It’s very unfortunate 

and I hope people take better care.  I did see people out on Lake Andrea already ice fishing there, 

and I don’t know if I’d be out there.  I probably wouldn’t be out there. 

 

Chief McElmury: 

 

They say minimum four inches. 

 

Steve Kumorkiewicz: 

 

Not recommended. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

But they should be taking a rope out with them and an inner tube and preparing themselves for 

what may happen.  Thank you for all your work. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

Just a comment.  You’re the training officer. 

 

Chief McElmury: 

 

Yes. 

 

Michael Serpe: 



Village Board Meeting 

January 16, 2012 

 

 

5 

 

And a credit to you for the job you’ve done training all of your people.  You left yourself out of 

this but I’m not going to let you out that quick because it’s your training, it’s your overseeing 

what’s going on that makes the difference and congratulations. 

 

Chief McElmury: 

 

Thanks very much.  I appreciate it. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Thank you, Chief. 

 

Mike Pollocoff: 

 

They could start training here by getting acclimated to this room and then move them to the 

water. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Anything else, Mike? 

 

Mike Pollocoff: 

 

No. 

 

7. NEW BUSINESS 

 

 A. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and Consider Ordinance #12-01 to 

amend Section 420-137 of the Zoning Ordinance related to Planned Unit 

Developments District requirements. 
 

Tom Shircel: 

 

Thank you, Mr. President, and Village Trustees.  Before you tonight is consideration or 

Ordinance 12-01 to amend Sections 420-137B and 420-137E of the Village zoning ordinance 

related to planned unit developments.  On December 12, 2011, the Plan Commission adopted 

Resolution 11-09 to initiate amendments to the Village Zoning Ordinance related to the PUD 

requirements.  The ordinance allows such overlay district and basic zoning district classifications 

to be amended regarding minimum lot area and PUD creation. 

 

So the first amendment is to 420-137B, and that is to allow the PUD to be created over any 

residential, commercial, industrial, agricultural district in the Village.  So before it accepted the 

A-1, R-6 and R-12 Districts.  Now they’ll all be included.  And the second amendment before you 

is the 420-137E related to minimum area requirements.  You can see that the current ordinance 

has different area parameters for residential, commercial, industrial and agricultural 



Village Board Meeting 

January 16, 2012 

 

 

6 

developments.  Through the years the Village staff has found that working with property owners 

and developers in creating planned unit developments that these acreages have become a 

hindrance in some instances in creating PUDs.  And we though the Village Plan Commission and 

the Village Board could use their discretion in creating PUDs, and thus we can take these 

acreages off and have no acreage requirements for PUDs. 

 

So on January 9
th
 last week the Plan Commission held a public hearing and recommended to the 

Village Board to approve Ordinance 12-01 as presented at tonight’s meeting.  With that, if you 

have any questions I’ll be happy to answer them. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

Move approval of Ordinance 12-01. 

 

Steve Kumorkiewicz: 

 

Second. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Motion by Mike, second by Steve for approval of Ordinance 12-01.  Any further discussion?   

 

 SERPE MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 

RECOMMENDATION AND ADOPT ORDINANCE #12-01 TO AMEND SECTION 420-137 OF 

THE ZONING ORDINANCE RELATED TO PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENTS DISTRICT 

REQUIREMENTS; SECONDED BY KUMORKIEWICZ; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 

 

 B. Consider award of contract for the Roger Prange Municipal Center Access Control 

System. 
 

Ruth Otto: 

 

Thank you, Mr. President.  As an ongoing initiative to create a safe working environment, and as 

a part of our ten year technology plan, we are continuing to add security to the facilities of the 

Village.  And this is a part of that.  This project will provide electronic door lock access to certain 

parts of the Roger Prange Municipal Center.  This will be the card readers that we’re currently 

using right now at the Village Hall and expanding it now to the Roger Prange Center including 

adding punch codes for certain parts of the building.  This will include both the public works side 

as well as the police side of the building.  Along with that this also includes adding remote 

openers for the garage doors on the police department so that the police officers can shut the 

doors when they leave if for some reason the door closers don’t automatically close.   

 

An RFQ was put out on November 28, 2011, and the quotes were returned on November 28
th
.  

And if you want to flip to the next screen, two out of the six responses that were received were 

not qualified contractors.  So they were thrown out.  The lowest qualified quote was from 

Innovative Systems, Inc. from Oak Creek at $16,580.73.  We also got a quote from A&R Doors 



Village Board Meeting 

January 16, 2012 

 

 

7 

for the transmitter receivers for the garage doors at $1,599.  And I ask for the Board to approve 

the bid for $16,580.73 for Innovative Systems, Inc. and A&R doors for $1,599.  I’d be happy to 

answer any questions. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

Ruth, will these work at that building? 

 

Ruth Otto: 

 

Yes. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

Then the only thing we won’t have is the code that we need for the additional access doors. 

 

Ruth Otto: 

 

Right, and the codes would be for those staff that it would not be convenient to carry a card, so 

same readers. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

And the budgeted amount was what? 

 

Ruth Otto: 

 

$26,800 so we’re well under budget. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

Good enough. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Is there a motion with that, Mike? 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

I’d move approval. 

 

Steve Kumorkiewicz: 

 

Second. 

 

 



Village Board Meeting 

January 16, 2012 

 

 

8 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Motion by Mike, second by Steve.  Any further discussion?   

 

 SERPE MOVED TO AWARD CONTRACTS FOR THE ROGER PRANGE MUNICIPAL  

CENTER ACCESS CONTROL SYSTEM TO INNOVATIVE SYSTEMS, INC. IN THE AMOUNT  

OF $16,580.73 AND A& R DOORS FOR $1,599; SECONDED BY KUMORKIEWICZ; MOTION  

CARRIED 5-0. 

 

 C. Consider Resolution #12-02 accepting the public street, infrastructure and 

landscaping improvements for Lots 1-4 of the Certified Survey Map 2520 for the 

Creekside Hill development located in the vicinity of 114
th

 Place and 39
th

 Avenue. 
 

Mike Spence: 

 

Mr. President and members of the Board, this resolution is to accept the public improvements that 

have been constructed for the Creekside Hill certified survey or the LLC at Creekside Hill.  This 

particular development consists of four lots.  It’s on 114
th
 Place just to the east of 39

th
 Avenue.  

The specific improvements that we’re asking to be accepted tonight include the public street, 

sanitary and storm sewer, water main.  There’s also a retention basin, street trees and landscaping 

as part of the development.  This project was finished a while ago that was originally developed 

in 2006 when the agreement was put together.  So we’re asking to officially accept these public 

improvements tonight. 

 

Monica Yuhas: 

 

Motion to approve Resolution 12-02. 

 

Steve Kumorkiewicz: 

 

Second. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Motion by Monica, second by Steve for adoption of Resolution 12-02.  Any further discussion?   

 

 YUHAS MOVED TO ADOPT RESOLUTION #12-02 ACCEPTING THE PUBLIC 

STREET, INFRASTRUCTURE AND LANDSCAPING IMPROVEMENTS FOR LOTS 1-4 OF 

THE CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP 2520 FOR THE CREEKSIDE HILL DEVELOPMENT 

LOCATED IN THE VICINITY OF 114
TH

 PLACE AND 39
TH

 AVENUE; SECONDED BY 

KUMORKIEWICZ; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 

 

 D. Consider a Professional Services Agreement for the Geotechnical Services for the 

Sewer D Maintenance Access Path. 
 

 



Village Board Meeting 

January 16, 2012 

 

 

9 

Mike Spence: 

 

Mr. President and members of the Board, this item tonight is the approval of a contract with PSI, 

they’re a geotechnical firm, to do several borings on the Prairie Farms Trail which is located on 

the map on the screen there.  It’s also the Sewer D maintenance path.  This slide actually shows a 

profile of the sewer.  This is the discharge ditch that was the discharge from Sewer D.  We 

crossed that with – in order to decommission Sewer D we had to put in a gravity sewer.  And the 

gravity sewer goes underneath the ditch there.  Those curved lines underneath actually represent a 

siphon.  Overall this whole sewer line is very flat so it’s going to require public works to clean it 

on a regular basis.  And in order to do that we need to have access to the manholes for cleaning.  

In order to get the project done with the consent that we had from the DNR, we went ahead and 

got the pipe installed, and now we’re in the process of finishing the access path for maintenance. 

 

This is the vac truck, Vactor, that public works has to use to clean this out, and it’s very heavy.  

So the purpose for this geotechnical is we want to make sure, we want to take six borings in the 

vicinity of that creek where we’re going to add up to six feet of material.  We want to make sure 

that there’s not settlement issues.  If there appears that there’s going to be something, then we’re 

going to want to be able to react to that.  So once we get this boring information we’ll be able to 

complete the construction of the path and allow public works for access. 

 

The particular contract, again, for these borings is for PSI, and the amount of the contract is 

$7,738.  I’m recommending that this contract be executed, and then the work would begin shortly 

thereafter. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Mike, could you go back to that other slide with the syphon?  Explain to me how that works. 

 

Mike Spence: 

 

We didn’t have enough grade to get underneath the ditch just naturally.  So the syphon, actually 

there’s two pipes and they’re smaller than the regular pipe.  And basically when the flow goes 

through there it creates like a vacuum, and it will pull the waste water, it will actually force it to 

go up on the other side like a syphon if you syphon gas out of a tank or whatever.  It’s the same 

principle.  But, again, the concern that we have is, and we realized this when we designed it, that 

it does have to be cleaned to ensure proper operation. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

That is the only one on the line is that one by the creek? 

 

Mike Spence: 

 

Yes, that is correct.  Yeah, this took a lot of – in the design of this we really were committed not 

to have to turn Sewer D into a pump station with the associated maintenance and operation costs 



Village Board Meeting 

January 16, 2012 

 

 

10 

with that.  So now we basically have a gravity system with this syphon in it.  They’re not unusual 

or they’re not real common, but they do in certain systems there’s a few of them. 

 

Mike Pollocoff: 

 

We do have a larger one on Barnes Creek right along Sheridan Road. 

 

Mike Spence: 

 

Oh, that’s right, yeah. 

 

Mike Pollocoff: 

 

And that one we’ve had that probably 22 years, and it does require more maintenance than just a 

main line of sewer but it works. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

How often do you have to clean them? 

 

Mike Pollocoff: 

 

This one here I think we’re going to see, but the one at Barnes Creek is not as minimum a grade 

of sewer as this.  So we’ll at least be out there once a year.  And I think the typical cleaning 

schedule is two years, some might be three. 

 

Mike Spence: 

 

And, again, just talking about the grade just to give you a little idea, because it is so flat the solids 

settle out of the waste water, and that’s really the whole issue.  There’s not enough velocity in the  

line to push it through. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

How deep is that line? 

 

Mike Spence: 

 

In this particular area it’s about five or six feet deep underneath the current.  But that shaded area 

represents the area that we’re going to fill over the path to allow John’s trucks to access it. 

 

Clyde Allen: 

 

Was this a budgeted item and how much please? 

 

 



Village Board Meeting 

January 16, 2012 

 

 

11 

Mike Spence: 

 

This is part of – it wasn’t budgeted as this.  It’s part of the dollars that we’re charging to the 

Sewer D and also the maintenance path.  We have a separate budget for that. 

 

Mike Pollocoff: 

 

It wasn’t a specific line item for testing on this.  But there was a line item for getting the pack put 

together. 

 

Clyde Allen: 

 

So take it out of that pool. 

 

Mike Spence: 

 

That is correct. 

 

Clyde Allen: 

 

Any idea what the costs come and what we were expecting? 

 

Mike Spence: 

 

In terms of? 

 

Clyde Allen: 

 

Project cost.  Was there an estimate prior to this as to what was in the budget? 

 

Mike Spence: 

 

We’ve had PSI for other geotechnical services.  There’s pretty much a standard quote.  What they 

do is they quote a number of borings.  And then we’re going like 30 feet down, so it matches 

other estimates that we’ve had. 

 

Clyde Allen: 

 

Okay, thank you. 

 

Steve Kumorkiewicz: 

 

Question for Mike.  Mike, that system works basically on the same principle of a reverse toilet, a 

toilet you put in the basement and flush up? 

 

 



Village Board Meeting 

January 16, 2012 

 

 

12 

Mike Spence: 

 

Yes, it’s a similar principle. 

 

Steve Kumorkiewicz: 

 

Okay, thank you. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

We had a motion and a second I believe?  No, we didn’t. 

 

Clyde Allen: 

 

Motion to approve. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

Second. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Motion by Clyde, second by Mike.  Further discussion?   

 

 ALLEN MOVED TO APPROVE A PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE INDUSTRIES (PSI) FOR THE GEOTECHNICAL SERVICES FOR 

THE SEWER D MAINTENANCE ACCESS PATH; SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION 

CARRIED 5-0. 

 

 E. Consider Outdoor Recreation and Grant Agreement with the Wisconsin 

Department of Natural Resources for the Prairie Farms Trail Development. 
 

Tom Shircel: 

 

Thank you, Mr. President and Village Trustees.  Before you you have a grant agreement, 

financial assistance award for your consideration.  It’s for the Prairie Farms Trail Development 

which is associated with what Mike Spence just spoke of.  As some brief background, back in 

June of last year, 2011, the Village applied for a federal recreational trails grant which is 

administered by the Wisconsin DNR.  And we’re seeking assistance in funding for the 

development and construction of an approximately 1.85 mile long 14 foot wide outdoor path 

known as the Prairie Farms Trail. 

 

The trail, if you look on the overhead, is located north of Prairie Springs Park.  It extends 

southward of C and goes through the decommissioned Village Sewer D treatment plant and will 

utilize a bridge from that point and a boardwalk to traverse an unnamed tributary to the Des 

Plaines River.  And then it will continue to head south and then continue to head east to County 



Village Board Meeting 

January 16, 2012 

 

 

13 

Trunk Highway H, 88
th
 Avenue, where there will be a trail head there.  So it makes that 

connection basically from Wilmot Road south and then east to 88
th
 Avenue. 

 

In 2010 the Village began and completed the installation of a 24-inch sanitary sewer gravity main 

that coincides with the location of this trail.  The trail will serve a dual purpose, to provide 

expanded multi use recreational opportunities to Village residents.  And, number two, it will also 

provide a necessary path for the maintenance of the underlying sewer main.  So with that before 

you you do have this grant agreement for your review and approval.  And I forgot to mention it’s 

for $44,000 to help the development of this path.  With that I’ll turn it back to the Board. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

I have a question, Tom.  Where does the trail start again? 

 

Tom Shircel: 

 

I’m sorry, it starts right up here on Highway H - I’m sorry Wilmot Road, C.  Here’s the old Sewer 

D treatment plant.  Head south, it follows this line here, skirts along here and goes east to 88
th
 

Avenue. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

Anywhere along this starting or finishing point is there an area for people to park? 

 

Tom Shircel: 

 

I’m not quite sure. 

 

Mike Pollocoff: 

 

There’s an area right up by where the sewer plant is going to be.  We’re going to put a parking 

area up there.  And then you can also park at Prairie Springs Park.  There’s a little yellow stub 

there so you could park on Terwall Park Drive and then walk into the path there.  And just so 

everybody is clear, the previous item where we were looking for doing soil borings to get that 

work done, this is the same project and it gets the same thing done. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Mike, the blue line connecting from where it heads out at Highway C and goes west on C and 

then hits the path that’s there by the I-94 project, what’s going to happen with that section there? 

 

Mike Pollocoff: 

 

That’s an off street path just like it is where it comes off of the Interstate now.  That’s one we’ll 

be looking for Kenosha County to –  

 



Village Board Meeting 

January 16, 2012 

 

 

14 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Because I know the County is going to do it on Highway H.  Is that going to be part of their 

project on C then? 

 

Mike Pollocoff: 

 

Not on that same project but it’s going to be on the project list. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

Who authorizes the grant from the Village, John or you?  Who signs the grant? 

 

Tom Shircel: 

 

I think John. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

I’d move approval that the DNR grant the approval with John’s signature. 

 

Clyde Allen: 

 

Second. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Motion by Mike, second by Clyde.  Any further discussion?   

 

 SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE THE OUTDOOR RECREATION AND GRANT 

AGREEMENT WITH THE WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES FOR 

THE PRAIRIE FARMS TRAIL DEVELOPMENT; SECONDED BY ALLEN; MOTION 

CARRIED 5-0. 

 

 F. Consider Ordinance #12-02 to amend Chapter 292 of the Municipal Code relating to 

compost drop off collection fees for bulk items. 
 

John Steinbrink, Jr.: 

 

Mr. President and members of the Board, Ordinance #12-02, it just takes the amount that we were 

paying for bulk items of $5 and we’re raising that up to $10 to cover our costs.  It’s an action that 

passed earlier and we’re just getting it updated in the ordinance now.  And so anyone that brings 

any bulk items, anything that really won’t fit inside their garbage container, the price that they’ll 

pay dropping off at the Prange Center, 8600 Green Bay Road, will be $10 instead of $5.  And that 

basically just covers the cost of the labor there and our cost to dispose of it.  And I recommend 

approval. 



Village Board Meeting 

January 16, 2012 

 

 

15 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

What would these bulk items consist of? 

 

John Steinbrink, Jr.: 

 

It could be a couch, it could be a mattress.  Really anything that’s heavier than 50 pounds that the 

guys can’t pick up per ordinance, and anything that’s large enough where it won’t fit into the cart.  

And so a lot of people will bring old furniture, couches, chairs, stuff like that, mattresses, box 

springs. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Does that include appliances? 

 

John Steinbrink, Jr.: 

 

Appliances is a separate fee altogether under white goods. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

But not TVs? 

 

John Steinbrink, Jr.: 

 

Right, that’s correct.  We have a separate ordinance for TVs by size and white goods and other 

appliances.  It really just covers the large bulk items. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

John, is that where that stuff ends up in the dumpsters out there? 

 

John Steinbrink, Jr.: 

 

Right, that’s correct.  We have several eight yard dumpsters out there, and then they take them 

and drop them off in there. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

If we were to come out there and go in the back there with a couch being somebody else or 

whoever and just two of us? 

 

John Steinbrink, Jr.: 

 

Sure, as long as you pay your $10. 



Village Board Meeting 

January 16, 2012 

 

 

16 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

We still have to pay it even if we throw it in the dumpster? 

 

John Steinbrink, Jr.: 

 

Yes. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

What a deal. 

 

John Steinbrink, Jr.: 

 

We charge over twice that if we pick it up at the curb.  It just really gives the residents an option 

of what they want to do.  A lot of times if they have a delivery during a Monday and your garbage 

day isn’t until Thursday, they really don’t want to have it lying out in the front yard or in the 

garage or anything.  So it’s really just a convenience that we offer out there.  And the garbage 

guys really like it because then it’s one less thing that they just don’t have to handle over the 

course of the route. 

 

Monica Yuhas: 

 

John, do you know how many residents use this program? 

 

John Steinbrink, Jr.: 

 

Yeah, we bring in probably about $10,000 overall, and that includes the white goods, the 

appliances, the TVs and stuff like that.  If you’ve been to our compost site it is very busy at times.  

And we close the first Saturday of December, and we actually have a sign that’s posted up there 

because there’s so much of a demand for it even though we don’t post it, we tell people to stop up 

at the public works offices and we average around $250 of revenue off of that every month.  So it 

is something that’s used on a regular basis by the residents.  I only hear really good things about it 

from them. 

 

Monica Yuhas: 

 

Thank you. 

 

Clyde Allen: 

 

I’ll make a motion to approve. 

 

 

 



Village Board Meeting 

January 16, 2012 

 

 

17 

Monica Yuhas: 

 

Second. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Motion by Clyde, second by Monica.  Any further discussion?   

 

 ALLEN MOVED TO ADOPT ORDINANCE #12-02 TO AMEND CHAPTER 292 OF THE 

MUNICIPAL CODE TO CHANGE THE COMPOST DROP OFF COLLECTION FEES FOR 

BULK ITEMS FROM $5 TO $10; SECONDED BY YUHAS; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 

 

 G. Consider Operator Licenses on file. 
 

Jane Romanowski: 

 

Just two of them tonight for Timothy Kinney and Ryan McCreary, and both of them are good to 

go. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

Move approval. 

 

Steve Kumorkiewicz: 

 

Second. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Motion by Mike, second by Steve.  Any further discussion?   

 

 SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE THE OPERATOR LICENSES FOR TIMOTHY 

KINNEY AND RYAN MCCREARY; SECONDED BY KUMORKIEWICZ; MOTION CARRIED 

5-0. 

 

8. VILLAGE BOARD COMMENTS – None. 

 

9. CONSIDER ENTERING INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION PURSUANT TO SECTION 

19.85(1)(3) WIS. STATS. TO DISCUSS, DELIBERATE OR NEGOTIATE THE 

PURCHASE OF PUBLIC PROPERTY, INVESTING OF PUBLIC FUNDS, OR 

CONDUCT OTHER SPECIFIED PUBLIC BUSINESS, WHENEVER COMPETITIVE 

OR BARGAINING REASONS REQUIRE A CLOSED SESSION. 
 

 

 

 



Village Board Meeting 

January 16, 2012 

 

 

18 

John Steinbrink: 

 

The Board will return to open session for the purposes of adjournment only.  No other business 

will be conducted.  Do we need a roll call vote on this? 

 

Jane Romanowski: 

 

After a motion and a second, yes. 

 

Michael Serpe: 

 

Motion to enter into executive session. 

 

Steve Kumorkiewicz: 

 

Second. 

 

John Steinbrink: 

 

Motion by Mike, second by Steve. 

 

 SERPE MOVED TO ENTER INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION; SECONDED BY 

KUMORKIEWICZ; ROLL CALL VOTE – ALLEN – YES; YUHAS – YES; KUMORKIEWICZ – 

YES; SERPE – YES; STEINBRINK – YES; MTION CARRIED 5-0. 

 

10. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION AND ADJOURNMENT 

 

 SERPE MOVED TO RETURN TO OPEN SESSION AND ADJOURN THE MEETING; 

SECONDED BY SECONDED BY KUMORKIEWICZ; ROLL CALL VOTE – ALLEN – YES; 

YUHAS – YES; KUMORKIEWICZ – YES; SERPE – YES; STEINBRINK – YES; MTION 

CARRIED 5-0 AND MEETING ADJOURNED AT 7:00 P.M. 

 



1 
 

THESE ITEMS ARE RELATED AND WILL BE DISCUSSED AT THE SAME TIME HOWEVER 

SEPARATE ACTION IS REQUIRED. 

Consider Ord. #12-06 for several Comprehensive Plan Amendments for the development of 

the Lynch Chevrolet dealership to be located at 10901 75th Street:  1) to amend a portion of the 

River View Neighborhood Plan by changing the east 33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of 

the Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision from the future single family lots to part of the adjacent 

commercial development parcel (currently being developed as Lynch Chevrolet); and 2) to amend 

the 2035 Comprehensive Land Use Plan Map 9.9 and update Appendix 10-3 of the Village’s 2035 

Comprehensive Plan to include the following amendment: to change the Low Density Residential 

Land Use designation on the east 33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of the Chateau Eau 

Plaines Subdivision to the Commercial Land Use designation and to remove the Urban Reserve 

designation on Tax Parcel Number 91-4-122-071-0026 owned by Lynch Ventures, LLC. 

Recommendation:  On January 9, 2012 the Village Plan Commission held a public hearing 

and adopted Plan Commission Resolution #12-01 and recommends that the Village Board 

approval the Comprehensive Plan Amendments pursuant to Ord. #12-06. 

Consider approval of a Certified Survey Map for the request of Kurt Petrie, President of Lynch 

Motor Vehicle Group, agent on behalf of Lynch Ventures LLC, owners of the properties located at 

10901 75th Street and the vacant lots (east 33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of the 

Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision) located directly south of 10901 75th Street (recently purchased 

by Lynch Ventures, LLC).   

Recommendation:  Plan Commission recommends that the Village Board approve the 

Certified Survey Map subject to the comments and conditions of the Village Staff Report of 

February 6, 2012. 

Consider Ord. #12-07 and #12-08 for a Zoning Text and Zoning Map Amendments for the 

request of Kurt Petrie, President of Lynch Motor Vehicle Group, agent on behalf of Lynch Ventures 

LLC, owners of the properties located at 10901 75th Street and the vacant lots (east 33.94 feet of 

Lot 3 of Block 8 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of the Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision) to rezone the 

property located at 10901 75th Street from B-2, Community Business District and to rezone east 

33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of the Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision from the R-4, 

Urban Single Family Residential District to the B-2, Community Business District with a Planned 

Unit Development Overlay (PUD) District and a Zoning Text Amendment to create the specific 

PUD District zoning regulations for the Lynch Chevrolet development. 

Recommendation:  On January 9, 2012 the Village Plan Commission held a public hearing 

and recommended that the Village Board approve the Zoning Text and Map Amendments 

(Ord. #12-07 and #12-08) as presented in the Village Staff Report of February 6, 2012. 

Consider approval of a Digital Security Imaging System (DSIS) Agreement and Access 

Easement for the installation, inspection and operation of the DSIS for the Lynch Chevrolet 

dealership. 

Recommendation:  On January 9, 2012 the Village Plan Commission approved the DSIS 

Agreement and associated Access Easement and Village staff recommends that the Village 

Board also approval the approve the DSIS Agreement and associated Access Easement 

as presented in the Village Staff Report of February 6, 2012. 

Consider the request of Lynch Ventures, LLC for approval of a Release of Easement for 

unnecessary utility easements on the east 33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of the 

Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision. 

Recommendation:  Village staff recommends approval of the Release of Easement as 

presented in the February 6, 2012 Village Staff Report. 



2 
 

VILLAGE STAFF REPORT OF FEBRUARY 6, 2012 

Consider Ord. #12-06 for several Comprehensive Plan Amendments for the development of 

the Lynch Chevrolet dealership to be located at 10901 75th Street:  1) to amend a portion of the 

River View Neighborhood Plan by changing the east 33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of 

the Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision from the future single family lots to part of the adjacent 

commercial development parcel (currently being developed as Lynch Chevrolet); and 2) to amend 

the 2035 Comprehensive Land Use Plan Map 9.9 and update Appendix 10-3 of the Village’s 2035 

Comprehensive Plan to include the following amendment: to change the Low Density Residential 

Land Use designation on the east 33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of the Chateau Eau 

Plaines Subdivision to the Commercial Land Use designation and to remove the Urban Reserve 

designation on Tax Parcel Number 91-4-122-071-0026 owned by Lynch Ventures, LLC. 

Consider approval of a Certified Survey Map for the request of Kurt Petrie, President of Lynch 

Motor Vehicle Group, agent on behalf of Lynch Ventures LLC, owners of the properties located at 

10901 75th Street and the vacant lots (east 33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of the 

Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision) located directly south of 10901 75th Street (recently purchased 

by Lynch Ventures, LLC).   

Consider Ord. #12-07 and #12-08 for a Zoning Text and Zoning Map Amendments for the 

request of Kurt Petrie, President of Lynch Motor Vehicle Group, agent on behalf of Lynch Ventures 

LLC, owners of the properties located at 10901 75th Street and the vacant lots (east 33.94 feet of 

Lot 3 of Block 8 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of the Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision) to rezone the 

property located at 10901 75th Street from B-2, Community Business District and to rezone east 

33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of the Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision from the R-4, 

Urban Single Family Residential District to the B-2, Community Business District with a Planned 

Unit Development Overlay (PUD) District and a Zoning Text Amendment to create the specific 

PUD District zoning regulations for the Lynch Chevrolet development. 

Consider approval of a Digital Security Imaging System (DSIS) Agreement and Access 

Easement for the installation, inspection and operation of the DSIS for the Lynch Chevrolet 

dealership. 

Consider the request of Lynch Ventures, LLC for approval of a Release of Easement for 

unnecessary utility easements on the east 33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of the 

Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision. 

 

THESE ITEMS ARE RELATED AND WILL BE DISCUSSED AT THE SAME TIME, HOWEVER 

SEPARATE ACTION IS REQUIRED. 

 

Background Information:  Lynch Motor Vehicle Group, Inc., owners of the property, is based in 

Burlington, Wisconsin and operates several vehicle dealerships in Wisconsin and Illinois. Lynch 

has entered into an agreement with General Motors (GM) to open a new Chevrolet Dealership 

strategically located on the STH 50 corridor adjacent to I-94. Requirements imposed by GM 

include implementation of corporate wide branding, site plan stall counts, signage, and building 

materials.  The initial time restrictions imposed by GM pertaining to be “Open for Business” would 

not allow for completion of a new dealership building complying with GM standards in Pleasant 

Prairie.  In response, Lynch has opened a temporary dealership at 7650 75th Street in the City of 

Kenosha.  The intent is that the temporary location will remain in service until occupancy is 

obtained on the permanent Pleasant Prairie location.  The Pleasant Prairie facility is proposed to 

be open in the summer of 2012.   

The proposed development on approximately 8.3 acres (including an additional 2.1 acres on the 

south side of the property that was recently acquired by the developer) will serve as a sales 

center for new and used automobiles and an auto repair and maintenance facility for Lynch 



3 
 

Chevrolet. Vehicle inventory will mostly be situated outdoors along the north and east sides of the 

proposed 31,000 square foot building with a 5,000 square foot indoor showroom located on the 

north side of the proposed building. Repair and maintenance functions will be within an 

approximate 16,500 square foot service area located on the south side of the building. The east 

side of the service area will allow service check-in functions, quick lube bays, and a car wash.  

The west side of the service area will serve maintenance/repair functions and vehicle detailing. 

Customer parking is located along the peripherals of the building at customer entrances.  

Employee parking will be located along the south property line.  

The anticipated hours of operation for this facility are:  Monday through Friday 7:00 a.m. – 9:00 

p.m., Saturday 7:30 a.m. – 5:00 p.m. and closed on Sunday.  The anticipated start up and total 

number of employees is 35 full-time and 5 part-time employees. 

Previous approvals:  The Village staff has been working with the petitioner related to the 

development of the site for the last 6-9 months.  The petitioner has received the following 

approvals to date: 

On September 19, 2011 the Village Board conditionally approved a Conceptual Plan for a 

phased development plan for the construction of a 31,000 square foot building and associated site 

improvements for the development of Lynch Chevrolet dealership.   

On September 26, 2011 the Plan Commission conditionally approved a Conditional Use Permit 

to develop the three properties located 11011, 10927 and 10823 75th Street for Lynch Chevrolet 

Dealership to operate a sales center for new and used automobiles and an auto 

repair/maintenance facility which will include 31,000 square foot building and outdoor car display 

area.  In addition, the Plan Commission conditionally approved Preliminary Site and 

Operational Plans to allow for the installation of erosion and sediment controls, to begin mass 

grading, to install storm sewer, to install a stormwater basin, and to place the stone base course 

on the site this fall.  [Note:  Final Site and Operational Plan approval is required prior to 

commencing footings and foundation and construction of the building, installation of sanitary 

sewer and water, installation of parking lot and curb and gutter and required landscaping, which 

is proposed to commenced in early spring of 2012.] 

The existing homes and outbuildings on all three (3) properties were removed and utilities 

disconnected.  The three properties were combined into one parcel and the address of the Lynch 

Chevrolet Dealership is 10901 75th Street. 

On December 29, 2011 Lynch Ventures LLC combined Tax Parcel Numbers 91-4-122-071-

0020; 91-4-122-071-0025 and 91-4-122-071-0030 into one property and a new Tax 

Parcel Number of 91-4-122-071-0026 has been assigned.  [Note:  Upon recording the CSM all 

parcels for the development of the Lynch Chevrolet Dealership will be located on one property 

and a new parcel number will be assigned.] 

On January 9, 2012 the Plan Commission conditionally approved the Final Site and Operational 

Plans for the development of the property located at 10901 75th Street and the vacant lots (east 

33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of the Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision) located 

directly south of 10901 75th Street (recently purchased by Lynch Ventures, LLC) for the 

development of Lynch Chevrolet dealership. 

Final Approvals requested:  At this time the petitioner is requesting the following final 

approvals to commence full development of the project: 

1. Village Comprehensive Plan (Ord. #12-06) amendments:  

 To amend a portion of the River View Neighborhood Plan by changing the east 

33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of the Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision 

recently acquired by Lynch Ventures, LLC from the future single family lots to part 

of the adjacent commercial development parcel (currently being developed as 

Lynch Chevrolet); and  



4 
 

 To amend the 2035 Comprehensive Land Use Plan Map 9.9 and update Appendix 

10-3 of the Village’s 2035 Comprehensive Plan to include said amendment.   

Specifically, Map 9.9 is proposed to be amended to change the Low Density 

Residential Land Use designation on east 33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 

of the Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision to the Commercial Land Use designation 

and to remove the Urban Reserve designation on Tax Parcel Number 91-4-122-

071-0026 owned by Lynch Ventures, LLC. 

2. Certified Survey Map to combine the property at 10901 75th Street and the vacant lots 

(east 33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of the Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision) 

recently acquired from AM Community Credit Union located directly south of 10901 75th 

Street.  This CSM will also dedicated easements, dedicate additional right-of-way as 

further described below.   

3. Zoning Text And Map Amendments to rezone the property located at 10901 75th Street 

from B-2, Community Business District and to rezone the east 33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 

4-8 of Block 8 of the Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision from R-4, Urban Single Family 

Residential District to the B-2, District with a Planned Unit Development Overlay (PUD) 

District and to create the specific PUD District zoning regulations for the Lynch Chevrolet 

development. 

4. Digital Security Imaging System (DSIS) Agreement and Access Easement for the 

installation, inspection and operation of the DSIS for the Lynch Chevrolet dealership. 

Reference to the DSIS is also made in the PUD. 

5. Consider the request of Lynch Ventures, LLC for approval of a Release of Easement for 

unnecessary utility easements on the east 33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of 

the Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision. 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENTS (Ord. #12-06) 

Neighborhood Plans are a component of the Comprehensive Plan and are a refinement of the 

2035 Comprehensive Land Use Map.  Neighborhood Plans identify the location of future lot and 

roadway configurations, proposed floodplain boundary adjustments, future stormwater facilities 

and access to roadways pursuant to the land uses identified on the 2035 Comprehensive Land 

Use Plan Map. The land use designations within this portion of the neighborhood shall be 

consistent with the land uses shown on the 2035 Comprehensive Land Use Plan.  

As a result of a recent purchase by Lynch Ventures LLC of east 33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of 

Block 8 of the Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision from AM Community Credit Union, the petitioner is 

requesting to amend a portion of the River View Neighborhood Plan by changing said lots from 

the future single family lots and becoming part of the adjacent commercial development parcel 

(currently being developed as Lynch Chevrolet).   

In addition to an amendment to a portion of the River View Neighborhood Plan the petitioner is 

requesting to amend the 2035 Comprehensive Land Use Plan Map 9.9 to change the Low Density 

Residential Land Use designation on the east 33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of the 

Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision to the Commercial Land Use designation and to remove the 

Urban Reserve designation on Tax Parcel Number 91-4-122-071-0026 (as noted above Tax Parcel 

Numbers 91-4-122-071-0020; 91-4-122-071-0025 and 91-4-122-071-0030 were combined into 

one parcel on December 29, 2011) owned by Lynch Ventures, LLC.  Furthermore, the amendment 

will also update Appendix 10-3 of the Village’s 2035 Comprehensive Plan to include said 

amendment.   

Furthermore, Appendix 10-3 of the Village’s 2035 Comprehensive Plan is proposed to be updated 

to include the aforementioned amendments. 



5 
 

CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP AND RELEASE OF EASEMENT 

The petitioner is requesting approval of a Certified Survey Map which will combine the property 

at 10901 75th Street and the vacant lots (east 33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of the 

Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision) recently acquired from AM Community Credit Union located 

directly south of 10901 75th Street into one parcel and for the Release of Easement for 

unnecessary utility easements on the east 33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of the 

Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision.  We Energies and other utilities will also release their rights to 

the same easements.  Recorded copies of said all recorded Release of Easements shall be 

provided to the Village. 

The CSM dedicates 224 square foot area at the southeast corner of the site for the future 109th 

Avenue roadway; and an additional seven (7) feet of right-of-way (3,900 square feet) along the 

south property line for future roadway improvements along 77th Street.   

In addition, the CSM provides for a Public Street Reservation Area extending 20 feet south along 

the northeastern property boundary of the property for the future WI DOT acquisition 

construction, installation, repair, alteration, replacement, planting and maintenance of public 

street improvements, uses and purposes, including, without limitation, pavement, curbs and 

gutters, sidewalk or bike lane,  street signs, street lights, street trees, sanitary sewerage system 

improvements, water system improvements, storm sewer and drainage system improvements, 

utility and communications facilities, street tree landscaping, and for all related ingress and 

egress, construction, installation, repair, alteration, replacement, planting and maintenance 

activities.  This reservation is subject to the WI DOT acquisition and compensation of the land 

area for the future widening of the STH 50 right-of-way.   

The CSM also dedicates the following easements: 

1. A Dedicated Storm Water Drainage, Retention Basin, Access and Maintenance Easement is 

being dedicated to the Village for private storm water drainage and retention basin system 

improvements, storm water storage and conveyance, uses and purposes, and for all 

related ingress and egress, construction, installation, repair, alteration, replacement and 

maintenance activities.  Unless the Village exercises the rights granted with respect to this 

Easement area, the Village shall have no obligation to do anything pursuant to its rights 

under this Easement.  The Owner of Lot 1 shall be responsible for all costs associated with 

the construction and maintenance of the private storm water retention basin 

improvements contained within this easement area.  

2. A Vision Triangle Easement is being dedicated to the Village and Wisconsin Department of 

Transportation (WI DOT) in order to maintain a clear sight line of vision at the State Trunk 

Highway 50 and future 109th Avenue intersection.  There shall be no obstructions, such as 

but not limited to buildings, signage, fences, vehicular parking, vegetation, or shelters 

permitted within the Dedicated Vision Triangle Easement between the heights of two (2) 

feet and 10 feet, unless approved by the Village and WI DOT.  This restriction is for the 

benefit of the traveling public and shall be enforceable by the Village, Kenosha County or 

the WI DOT. 

3. A Dedicated Emergency Cross Access and Maintenance Easement is a cross access 

easement being dedicated to the Village for public access, driveway, pedestrian and cross 

access purposes improvements, uses and purposes, and for all related and incidental 

ingress and egress, construction, installation, repair, alteration, replacements, and 

maintenance activities to serve this Development and the abutting land owners in the 

event of an emergency.  As noted on the CSM this easement will be vacated by the Village 

when a emergency access is provided to 77th Street from the southwestern portion of the 

site. 



6 
 

In addition to the easements specific restrictive covenants area also provided related to each of 

these easement areas.  The required easements related to the digital security imaging system will 

not be included on the CSM and will be dedicated by separate recordable Easement document. 

The east 33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of the Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision abut a 

platted but unconstructed 77th Street, this street will be installed in the future by the developer of 

the abutting land.  Lynch will be responsible for their fair share cost of public improvements 

within 77th Street.  If 77th Street is designed and installed by the developer of the abutting land to 

the south, a right-of-recovery for actual costs would need to be paid by Lynch to the Village to 

reimburse the developer or if the Village designs and constructs 77th Street Lynch will be 

responsible for the Village levied special assessments. 

In addition, 109th Avenue to the east of the development is proposed to be constructed by the WI 

DOT in 2016 in accordance with an executed WI DOT Memorandum of Understanding signed by 

all parties in July, 2011.   

The developer will be responsible for his fair share cost of construction of the abutting 77th Street 

as a collector street, the sewer and water improvements in 109th Avenue to the east, and the off-

site regional retention facility.  The Waivers of Notice of Special Assessment for said 

improvements shall be executed and recorded at the Kenosha County Register of Deeds Office. 

ZONING TEXT AND MAP AMENDMENTS (Ord. #12-07 and #12-08) 

A Planned Unit Development Overlay District (PUD) is required to develop this site.  A PUD 

allows the Village some flexibility with dimensional requirements of the underlying B-2 District 

provided there is community benefit for the project.   

Specifically, the attached PUD Ordinance allows for: 

 the principal building to exceed 25,000 square feet;  

 the bright aluminum metallic panels to be used within a portion of the architectural tower 

elements and along the front of the building;  

 the Chevrolet blue aluminum panels at the main entrance of the building;  

 the minimum on-site parking space to be reduced from 135 space to 101 spaces (including 

the required five (5) handicapped parking spaces); and  

 the total square footage of all wall signage on the building to be increased from 250 

square feet to 330 square feet and the Primary Monument Sign may be located a 

minimum of eight (8) feet from the property line adjacent to STH 50..   

The property located at 10901 75th Street is currently zoned B-2, Community Business District 

and the vacant lots (east 33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of the Chateau Eau Plaines 

Subdivision) located directly south of 10901 75th Street (recently purchased by Lynch Ventures, 

LLC) are currently zoned R-4, Urban Single Family Residential District.   These properties are 

proposed to be combined into one property upon recording of the CSM and rezoned to the B-2, 

Community Business District with a Planned Unit Development Overlay (PUD) District. 

DSIS AGREEMENT AND EASEMENTS 

In consideration of the PUD, the Village will require the owners to provide, install and maintain in 

good working order an exterior DSIS that monitors the exterior spaces and areas for security 

surveillance purposes pursuant to Chapter 410 of the Village Ordinance. Attached is the final 

draft of the DSIS Agreement and Access Easement as noted above.  The required Easement 

related to the DSIS will not be included on the CSM and will be dedicated by separate Easement 

document.  This Agreement shall be executed and the easement recorded prior to issuance of the 

building permit. The DSIS will be owned and operated by Lynch per the Ordinance requirements. 



7 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 On January 9, 2012 the Village Plan Commission held a public hearing and adopted Plan 

Commission Resolution #12-01 and recommends that the Village Board approval the 

Comprehensive Plan Amendments pursuant to Ord. #12-06. 

 The Plan Commission recommends that the Village Board  approve the Certified Survey Map 

subject to the above comments and the following conditions: 

1. Approval and recording of all Release of Easement by the Village and all easement 

interest holders for the unnecessary utility easements on the east 33.94 feet of Lot 

3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of the Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision.  A copy of the 

recorded release of easements shall be provided to the Village prior to the Village 

releasing the CSM to be recorded. 

2. Subject to the attached changes to the CSM being made. 

3. The developer will be responsible for his fair share cost of construction of the 

abutting 77th Street public improvements, including public sanitary sewer, water, 

storm sewer, roadway, curb and gutter, street trees and sidewalk improvements.  

The developer shall be responsible for public sanitary sewer and water 

improvements and future street tree maintenance in 109th Avenue to the east, and 

the development’s fair share costs of the off-site regional storm water retention 

facility.  The attached Waivers of Notice of Special Assessment shall be executed 

and recorded at the Kenosha County Register of Deeds Office relating to all of the 

aforementioned public improvements.  

4. All outstanding taxes and special assessments shall be paid prior to recording the 

CSM. 

5. The CSM shall be recorded at the Kenosha County Register of Deeds Office prior to 

the issuance of the required building permit and a copy of the recorded CSM shall 

be provided to the Village within 45 days of Village Board approval. 

 On January 9, 2012 the Village Plan Commission held a public hearing and  recommended that 

the Village Board approve the Zoning Text and Map Amendments (Ord. #12-07 and 

#12-08) as presented as presented. 

 On January 9, 2012 the Village Plan Commission approved the DSIS Agreement and 

associated Access Easement and Village staff recommends that the Village Board also 

approval the approve the DSIS Agreement and associated Access Easement subject to 

the DSIS Agreement and Easement being finalized and executed by all parties and the 

easement document is recorded at the Kenosha County Register of Deeds Office prior to 

issuance of the permits. 

 Village staff recommends approval of the Release of Easement as presented in the February 

6, 2012 Village Staff Report provided a copy of the recorded Release of Easement is provided 

to the Village. 

 



ORD. # 12-06 

ORDINANCE TO AMEND  
THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN  

2035 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 390 OF THE  

VILLAGE MUNICIPAL CODE 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Village of Pleasant Prairie Board of Trustees, Kenosha County, 
Wisconsin, that the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 2035 Comprehensive Plan is hereby 
amended as follows: 

1. To amend a portion of the River View Neighborhood as an amendment  to the 
Village of Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 2035 Comprehensive Plan shown and 
described in Exhibit 1. 

2. To amend the 2035 Comprehensive Land Use Plan Comprehensive Land Use Plan 
Map 9.9 to change the Low Density Residential Land Use designation on the east 
33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of the Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision 
to the Commercial Land Use designation.   

3. To amend the 2035 Comprehensive Land Use Plan Comprehensive Land Use Plan to 
remove the Urban Reserve designation on Tax Parcel Number 91-4-122-071-0026 
(formerly known as Tax Parcel Numbers 92-4-122-071-0025 and 91-4-122-071-
0030). 

4. To update Appendix 10-3 of the Village’s 2035 Comprehensive Plan to include the 
aforementioned amendments to Map 9.9. 

The Village Community Development Director is hereby directed to record these Amendments to 
the Comprehensive Plan on the appropriate pages of said Plan and to update Appendix A in 
Chapter 390 of the Village Municipal Code to include said amendments. 
 

Adopted this 6th day of February, 2012. 

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
ATTEST: 

 
  
John P. Steinbrink, 
Village President 

  
Jane M. Romanowski 
Village Clerk 
 
Ayes: ___ Nayes:  ___    Absent: ____ 

 
Posted:    
 
Ord #12-06 RiverView NP amend and Land Use Amend.doc 

 

 



EXHIBIT 1 

Neighborhood Plan 24 of Appendix 9-3 

River View Neighborhood 

A Neighborhood Plan for a portion of this Neighborhood generally located south of STH 50 (75th 
Street), west of 104th Avenue, north of 80th Street and east of 115th Avenue (Chateau Eau Plaines 
area) has been prepared and adopted by the Plan Commission on August 12, 2011 by Resolution 
#11-04 and the Village Board adopted September 19, 2011 by Ordinance #11-23.   

In 2012, the Neighborhood Plan was amended to change the east 33.94 feet of Lot 3 and Lots 4-8 
of Block 8 of the Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision as Community Commercial designation from the 
future single family lots to part of the adjacent commercial development as adopted by the Plan 
Commission on January 9, 2012 by Resolution #12-01 and the Village Board adopted Ordinance 
#12-06 on February 6, 2012.   

The portion of the River View Neighborhood includes:   

 COMMUNITY COMMERCIAL AREAS:  Approximately 32 acres of land within this portion 
of the Neighborhood are identified as Community Commercial.  The Community 
Commercial area includes the area south of STH 50 and west of 104th Avenue. 

 RESIDENTIAL AREA: The portion of the Neighborhood consists of the Chateau Eau 
Plaines Subdivision (constructed and unconstructed platted areas) and other residential 
development along 104th Avenue south of 79th Street. 

There are 145 existing single family lots/homes and six (6) two family units within this 
portion of the Neighborhood and 135 new single family lots proposed to be developed 
within this portion of the Neighborhood. 

In accordance with the Village Comprehensive Plan, the overall net density for the 
Neighborhood is recommended to be within the Low Density Residential land use category 
with the average lot area within the entire Neighborhood be 19,000 square feet per 
dwelling unit.  This allows for some areas of the entire Neighborhood to have larger lots 
while some areas have smaller lots.  The net density of this portion of the Neighborhood is 
approximately 20,409 square feet per dwelling unit (approximately 131 net residential 
acres--excluding existing and future rights-of-way, commercial area, 100-year floodplain 
and wetlands multiplied by 43,560 square feet in an area divided by 286 dwelling units). 
The lot size per dwelling is higher than the range provided in the Village’s Comprehensive 
Plan. 

 OPEN SPACE:  This Neighborhood Plan identifies approximately 25.5 acres or 
approximately 12% of the lands within this Neighborhood area that would remain as open 
space.   

o FLOODPLAIN AREAS:  Approximately 22.3 acres within this area of the 
Neighborhood are currently located within the 100-year floodplain. Prior to 
consideration of any Conceptual Plans on these properties, the 100-year floodplain 
shall be field verified in accordance with the Village floodplain maps and ordinance 
regulations.  Development in the floodplain is restricted to open spaces that do not 
interrupt the natural flow of the water.  Any development that constricts the flow of 
water or significantly reduces floodplain storage volumes and may create upstream 
and/or downstream flooding problems or reduce the capacity of the floodplain to 
store water is prohibited.  In some instances, property can be removed from the 
floodplain provided proper approvals are obtained from the Village and several 
other agencies including the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WI DNR) 
and the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA).  Any area removed from 
the floodplain through the placement of fill must be contiguous to land lying outside 
the floodplain.  In addition, the volume of floodplain removal must be created in the 
vicinity of the filled area on a one-to-one basis.  The land that is removed from the 



floodplain must be filled to an elevation of at least two (2) feet above the elevation 
of the 100-year regional flood elevation.  Approximately 4.9 acres of the 100-year 
floodplain is proposed to be removed from the 100-year floodplain for the 
construction of Eau Plaines Parkway (roadway) and development of land adjacent to 
the roadway.  Approximately 1.3 acres of the 100-year floodplain are proposed to 
be created to compensate for the filling.  As noted above, the floodplain area being 
created is less than the area being removed; however, the floodwater storage shall 
be the same.  Prior to any floodplain boundary adjustment, proper approvals from 
the WI DNR, FEMA and the Village are required. 

o WETLAND AREAS:  Approximately 3.2 acres of land within this portion of the 
Neighborhood may be wetlands.  Prior to consideration of any Conceptual Plans, the 
wetlands shall be field verified by a certified biologist in accordance with the Village 
wetland regulations and approved by the WI DNR.  Some of the wetlands within the 
undeveloped area have been field verified.  Upon field verification of wetlands the 
Neighborhood Plan may need to be altered to reflect actual conditions. 

o OTHER OPEN SPACE:  Approximately 5.5 acres within this portion of the 
Neighborhood is identified as open space.  This includes areas for stormwater 
retention facilities for the area, excluding retention facilities in the commercial area 
and six (6) existing platted lots that may not be buildable due to the environmental 
limitations.  [A minimum of 50% of the lot shall not be encumbered by wetlands or 
100-year floodplain to be considered buildable.]  The existing undeveloped land 
within the cul-de-sac west of 105th Avenue will require stormwater management 
facilities/retention basin and lots may be utilized for that purpose and not 
developed as single family lots.  At the time that any Conceptual Plans are to be 
considered for any portion of the Neighborhood, the developer’s engineer will be 
required to evaluate the development site, based on actual field conditions and 
shall present a storm water management facility plan which meets the Village 
requirements.   

 POPULATION PROJECTIONS FOR THE NEIGHBORHOOD:  The vacant lots within this 
portion of the Neighborhood will not develop until the property owners wish to develop 
their land; which makes neighborhood planning essential for the orderly growth of the 
community and establishes a framework as to how development should occur and, if and 
when it occurs.  The Neighborhood Plan is a guide for the community, property owners and 
developers—therefore the population will increase on an incremental basis as the 
Neighborhood develops over time. 

Current population within this portion of the Neighborhood: 

 151 dwelling units 
 410 persons (which includes an estimated 93 school age children) 

Projected population within this portion of the Neighborhood is based on the 
total number of households proposed for this Neighborhood when fully developed: 

 286 dwelling units 
 775 persons (which includes an estimated 172 school age children) 

The Village provides copies of proposed developments to the Kenosha Unified School 
District to assist in their long range planning. 

[Note:  Pursuant to the 2010 Census detailed information for the Village of Pleasant 
Prairie the average number of persons per household is 2.71 and school age 
children between the ages of 5 and 19 make up 22.6% of the population.  Pursuant 
to the information provided by the Kenosha Unified School District for Pleasant 
Prairie the number of new students that will attend public school is 42% of the 
number of dwelling units.]  



 ACCESS TO ARTERIAL ROADS:  Limited commercial access is allowed to STH 50 and 
104th Avenue.  Pursuant to the STH 50 Access Management Plans two (2) public roadways 
will connect to STH 50—at 109th Avenue and Eau Plaines Parkway; one right-in/right-out 
commercial access to STH 50 east of 109th Avenue and one right in/right out commercial 
access will connect to 104th Avenue north of 77th Street as shown.  No other direct public 
roadway or commercial access to STH 50 and 104th Avenue is proposed.   

 
 

Neighborhood Plan Map 24 
River View Neighborhood Plan  

 
Adopted by Plan Commission Resolution #11-04 and Village Board Ordinance #11-23 as 

amended by Ordinance #12-06 
 
 

X  east 33.94 feet of Lot 3 of Block 8 of the Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision and Lots 4-8 of Block 
8 of the Chateau Eau Plaines Subdivision are changed from “Future Single Family” to “Proposed 

Commercial” designation 
 
 

X X X X X X 



ORDINANCE # 12-07 

ORDINANCE TO CREATE A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT PURSUANT TO  

SECTION 420-137 OF THE VILLAGE ZONING ORDINANCE FOR THE  

LYNCH CHEVROLET OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE DEVELOPMENT 

IN THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE,  

KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN 

 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Village Board of Trustees of the Village of Pleasant Prairie, 

Kenosha County, Wisconsin, that the following Planned Unit Development (PUD) 

Ordinance is hereby created for the Lynch Chevrolet of Pleasant Prairie Development 

pursuant to Chapter 420-137 of the Village Zoning Ordinance to read as follows: 

 

Lynch Chevrolet of Pleasant Prairie Planned Unit Development 

 

a. It is the intent that the Lynch Chevrolet of Pleasant Prairie Development, on the properties 

as legally described below is in conformity with the Village of Pleasant Prairie (Village) 

adopted Comprehensive Land Use Plan; that the development will not be contrary to the 

general health, safety, welfare and economic prosperity of the community; and that the 

architectural, building and site design, landscaping, grading and drainage, lighting and 

general site development is an attractive and harmonious commercial development of 

sustained desirability and economic stability and will not have an adverse effect on the 

property values of the surrounding neighborhood. 

b. Legal Description:  The properties included are collectively known as Lot 1 of CSM 

_________ as recorded at the Kenosha County Register of Deeds Office on 

________________ __, 2012 as Document No. ____________ and is located in U.S. 

Public Land Survey Section 7, Township 1 North, Range 22 East of the Fourth Principal 

meridian lying and being in the Village of Pleasant Prairie and herein after referred to as 

the “DEVELOPMENT”. 

c. Requirements within the DEVELOPMENT: 

(i) The DEVELOPMENT shall be in compliance with all Federal, State, County and 

Village ordinances and regulations except as expressly modified in subsection (d) 

below. 

(ii) The DEVELOPMENT shall be in compliance with the Site and Operational Plans 

conditionally approved on January 9, 2012 for the construction of Lynch Chevrolet 

of Pleasant Prairie to serve as their sales center for new and used automobiles and 

an auto repair and maintenance facility, and all other uses and operations as 

described on the Site and Operational Plans conditionally approved by the Village. 

(iii) The DEVELOPMENT shall be in compliance Conditional Use Permit #11-16 as 

recorded at the Kenosha County Register of Deeds Office on __________ __, 2012 

as Document Number ___________ and any other future Conditional Use Permits 

that may be approved or amended by the Village for this site.  

(iv) The DEVELOPMENT shall be in compliance with the Wisconsin Department of 

Transportation (WI DOT) Memorandum of Understanding executed in July 2011 and 

is on file with the Village related to the temporary commercial access to STH 50.  

Pursuant to the Agreement, when the 109th Avenue access roadway is constructed 

by the WI DOT in accordance with said Agreement then the temporary commercial 

access to STH 50 will be removed by the WI DOT. 



Page 2 

(v) After 77th Street is constructed a secondary gated emergency access driveway shall 

be installed by the owner of the DEVELOPMENT for access to the development site. 

(vi) The DEVELOPMENT, including but not limited to, the interior and exterior of the 

building, signs, storm water management basin, landscaping, parking lots, exterior 

site lighting, etc., and the site as a whole, shall be maintained in a clean, neat, 

presentable, aesthetically pleasing, well-maintained, structurally sound and non-

hazardous condition. 

(vii) All building and site modifications (excluding general building and site 

maintenance) within the DEVELOPMENT shall be completed in accordance with the 

applicable Village Ordinance and Codes at the time the modification is proposed. 

(viii) The building, structures and all exterior additions, remodeling or alterations to the 

existing building, structures or to any future buildings and structures within the 

DEVELOPMENT shall be constructed of the same or complimentary exterior 

materials, colors and architectural style to ensure a unified commercial 

development, including signage, lighting, outdoor furniture, etc.  as approved by 

the Village Zoning Administrator.  No material alterations or modification to these 

colors or materials shall be made without written approval of the Village.  

(ix) The owners of the DEVELOPMENT shall be in compliance with the Digital Security 

Imaging System Agreement and Access Easement as approved by the Village Board 

on January 16, 2012.  

(x) The DEVELOPMENT shall comply with the designated business hours of operation 

and hours of delivery times for the B-2 District at all times during the year, even 

during the holiday seasons.  Special hours of operation may be granted by the 

Village upon the owners/tenants entering into a separate Agreement with the 

Village for the provision of additional police officers and any related fees for 

additional security as determined necessary by  the Village Police Chief. 

(xi) No land divisions shall be allowed within the DEVELOPMENT unless previously 

approved by the Village. 

(xii) All vehicles for sale/lease within the DEVELOPMENT shall be parked in designated 

areas of the site and depicted on the Site and Operational Plans.  No vehicles shall 

be parked on the grass, in the landscaping, in the right-of-way, throat or driveway 

entrances, maneuvering lands or fire lanes.  In addition, vehicles shall not be 

elevated with ramps or placed on platforms or the roof of the building. 

(xiii) All signs shall comply with Article X of Chapter 420 of the Village Municipal Code.  

As notes in said Ordinance the following types of signs are prohibited:   

(1) Any sign with flashing or pulsating lights.  

(2) Any inflatable sign or inflatable characters, including but not limited to 

tethered balloon signs or other gas-filled figures.  

(3) Any temporary, spring-action metal advertising sign.  

(4) Any spotlights used as visual attention-getters.  

(5) A string of lights, tinsel, pennants, pinwheels or other similar devices 

hanging between two points or attached to light poles, cars, antennas, 

buildings or other structures on the property. 

(6) Any sign place within an open hood of a vehicle for sale. 

(xiv) The DEVELOPMENT shall comply with all applicable performance standards set forth 

in § 420-38 of the Village Zoning Ordinance.  



Page 3 

(xv) The DEVELOPMENT shall be maintained in a neat, presentable, aesthetically 

pleasing, structurally sound and nonhazardous condition. All litter and debris shall 

be promptly removed.  

(xvi) The DEVELOPMENT shall not be used for any outside parking (neither overnight nor 

during the day) of junked, inoperable, dismantled or unlicensed vehicles.  All 

junked, inoperable, dismantled or unlicensed vehicles that are parked outside will 

be issued citations. 

d. Specific Modifications to the Village Ordinance and Regulations and Specific Requirements 

for the DEVELOPMENT: 

(i) Section 420-119 I related to dimensional standards shall be amended to read as 

follows: 

I. Dimensional standards. Except as otherwise specifically provided in this 

chapter, and without limitation, all uses, sites, buildings and structures 

in the B-2 District shall comply with the following dimensional standards 

to the extent applicable:  

(1) Lot size: two acres minimum.  

(2) Lot frontage on a public street: 150 feet minimum.  

(3) Open space: 30% minimum.  

(4) Principal building standards:  

(a) Gross floor area: 25,000 square feet minimum and 50,000 square 

feet maximum. 

(b) Height: 35 feet maximum. 

(c)  Setbacks:  

[1] Street setback: minimum of 65 feet from STH 50 and a 

minimum of 40 feet from 109th Avenue and 77th Street.  

[2] Side and rear setback: 30 feet minimum.  

[3] Wetland setback: 25 feet minimum.  

(5) Detached accessory building/trash enclosure standards: detached 

accessory buildings or trash enclosures are prohibited.  

(ii) Section 420-48 C related to minimum number of off-street parking spaces shall be 

amended to read as follows: 

C. Minimum number of off-street parking spaces. Minimum number of off-

street parking spaces for the DEVELOPMENT shall be 46 parking spaces 

for employees and 49 parking spaces for customers.   No designated 

customer or employee parking space shall be used for inventory parking 

and if customer and employee parking becomes an issue as determined 

by the Village Police Chief, additional parking spaces shall be added on 

the recently acquired land south of the building and adjacent to 77th 

Street.  All employee and customer parking spaces shall be striped and 

the centerline of the all double row inventory parking areas shall be 

striped to ensure that all cars and parked appropriately on the site.  No 

off-street parking shall be allowed on STH 50, 109th Avenue or 77th 

Street. 



Page 4 

(iii) Section 420-57 H (2) (g) related to exterior walls materials shall be amended to 

read: 

(g) Exterior walls of all principal or accessory buildings shall be constructed 

of the following materials as shown on the Village approved Site and 

Operational Plans:  

[1] Facing materials shall consist of the following materials: 

[a] Architectural pre-cast panels with inset brick (light sandstone, 

smooth and tan integral throughout the panel). 

[b] Bright aluminum metallic panels will be used within a portion of 

the architectural tower elements along the front of the building.   

[c] Chevrolet blue aluminum panels at the main entrance of the 

building. 

(iv) Section 420-76 T (7) related to the setback for the primary monument sign to the 

right-of-way shall be amended to read as follows: 

(7) Minimum street setback distance: 8 feet from the street right-of-way 

line of STH 50 and 15 feet from the street right-of-way of 109th Avenue 

and 77th Street.  

(v) Section 420-78 (K) (1) related to the total aggregate permitted background 

commercial advertising sign area shall be amended to read as:  

(1) Except as is otherwise specifically provided in this article, the aggregate 

permitted background commercial advertising sign area allowed within 

the DEVELOPMENT not to exceed a maximum of 330 square feet. 

e. Amendments: 

(i) The PUD regulations for said DEVELOPMENT may be amended pursuant to Section 

420-13 of the Village Zoning Ordinance. 

(ii) The Zoning Administrator has the discretion to approve minor changes, 

adjustments and additions to this PUD ordinance document without the need for 

Village Plan Commission and/or Village Board of Trustees review and approval. 

 

Adopted this 6th day of February, 2012. 

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

 

 

ATTEST: _____________________________ 

John P. Steinbrink 

Village President 

_________________________________ 

Jane M. Romanowski 

Village Clerk 

 

Posted: ______________    
 
07- Lynch PUD.doc 



 

 

 
 
 

ORD. # 12-08 
 

ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP 
OF THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, 

KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 420-13 OF THE VILLAGE ZONING ORDINANCE 

 
BE IT ORDAINED by the Village of Pleasant Prairie Board of Trustees, 

Kenosha County, Wisconsin, that the Official Village Zoning Map is hereby amended 
as follows: 
 
The subject properties are located at 10901 75th Street and the vacant properties known as 
east 33.94 feet of Lot 3 of Block 8 and Lots 4-8 of Block 8 of the Chateau Eau Plaines 
Subdivision located in U.S. Public Land Survey Section 7, Township 1 North, Range 22 East 
in the Village of Pleasant Prairie and further identified as Tax Parcel Numbers 93-4-122-071-
0026; 91-4-122-071-1511 are hereby rezoned from the B-2, Community Business District 
and R-4, Urban Single Family Residential District to the B-2, Community Business District 
with a Planned Unit Development Overlay (PUD) District. 

The Village Zoning Administrator is hereby directed to record these Zoning Map 
Amendments on the appropriate sheet of the Official Village Zoning Map and Appendix B in 
Chapter 420 of the Village Municipal Code shall be updated to include said amendment. 

Adopted this 6th day of February, 2012. 
 

VILLAGE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 
 
 

_________________________ 
John P. Steinbrink 
Village President 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Jane M. Romanowski 
Village Clerk 
 
Posted:____________ 
 
08-Lynch PUD .doc 















































































































 

RESOLUTION #12-03 

 

PRELIMINARY RESOLUTION DECLARING INTENT TO EXERCISE  

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT POLICE POWERS IN CONNECTION WITH  

THE CONSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC WATER MAIN IMPROVEMENTS LOCATED IN 

THE RIGHT-OF-WAY OF 9230 AND 9243 32
ND

 AVENUE 

 

 

 RESOLVED, by the Village Board of the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, 

Wisconsin: 

 

 1. The Governing Body hereby declares its intention to levy special assessments 

pursuant to Section 66.0703, Wis. Stats., upon property described in Schedule A 

hereto for special benefits conferred upon such property for the construction of public 

water main improvements located in the right-of-way of 9230 and 9243 32
nd

 Avenue. 

 

 2. The Governing Body hereby determines that the construction of such improvements 

are in the best interest of and for the health and welfare of the Municipality and the 

property affected by the improvement and constitutes an exercise of the police power. 

 

 3. The assessment against any parcel may be paid in cash or in ten equal, annual 

installments. 

  

4. The Clerk shall cause to be prepared a report which shall consist of: 

 

A. Preliminary plans and specifications for the improvements. 

 

B. An estimate of the entire cost of the proposed improvements. 

 

C. A schedule of proposed assessments. 

 

 5. When the report is completed, the Clerk shall make a copy of the report available for 

public inspection 

 

 6. Upon completion of the report, the Clerk shall cause notice to be given stating the 

nature of the proposed improvement, the general boundary lines of the proposed 

assessment district, the time and place at which the report may be inspected, and the 

time and place of the public hearing on the matters contained in the preliminary 

resolution and report.  This notice shall be published as a Class 1 Notice and a copy 

shall be mailed, at least ten days before the hearing, to every interested party. 

 

 

 

 



7. The hearing shall be held at the regular meeting place of the Governing Body at a 

time set by the Clerk in accordance with Section 66.0703(7(a)), Wis. Stats. 

 

 Passed and adopted this 6
th

 day of February, 2012.  
 

       VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

 

 

_________________________________          

John P. Steinbrink, President 

 

Attest: 

 

 

________________________________ 

Jane M. Romanowski, Clerk 

 

 

Posted: 

 



 



























 
Office of the Village  

Interim Fire & Rescue Chief 

Doug McElmury 

 
 

 
INVOICE 

 
 
 
TO: Michael R. Pollocoff, Village Administrator and Members of the Village 

Board 
 
FROM: Douglas McElmury, Interim Chief, Fire & Rescue Department 
 
CC:  Jane Romanowski, Village Clerk 
 
SUBJECT: Sale / Disposal of Surplus Radio Equipment 
 
DATE:  February 1, 2012 
 
 
In 2009 the Fire & Rescue department replaced the vast majority of its radio equipment 
as a result of a grant and budgeted funds.  In 2009 the Village Board authorized the 
department to sell surplus radio equipment and pagers.  We were successful in the sale 
of the pagers.  The department was not able to sell the surplus radio equipment on e-
bay included in the 2009 approval.  There is additional Fire & Rescue radio equipment 
detailed below that is deemed surplus, which was not included in the 2009 Village 
Board Resolution which now can be sold or disposed of.  
 
Recommendations: 
 

1. Dispose of all of the surplus radio equipment that authorized to be sold in 2009 
and was not able to be sold.  The equipment is detailed in the attached list titled 
“Surplus Radio Equipment Approved for Sale in 2009”  
   

2. Attempt to sell the Motorola GM-300 mobiles, Motorola Spectra mobiles, 
Motorola HT-1000 portables and Motorola Minitor II Charger/Amps in the 
attached list titled “Need Approval to Sell/Dispose of”.  If the radio equipment 
does not sell in a timely fashion, the equipment would be disposed of.   
 

3. The Regency scanner, siren, MITREK radio and radio handset in the attached list 
titled “Need Approval to Scrap” are of no value and should be disposed of. 

 
 
 



RESOLUTION #12-04 

 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE  

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

TO DISPOSE OF SURPLUS RADIO EQUIPMENT 

 

 

 WHEREAS, the Village of Pleasant Prairie Fire and Rescue Department has an 

assortment of outdated radio equipment in its department; and, 

  

 WHEREAS, the existing radio equipment is no longer needed to meet the needs of the 

Village. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Interim Fire & Rescue Chief is 

authorized to post the equipment listed on Exhibit A for sale on EBay and to dispose of the 

surplus radio equipment of no value listed on Exhibits B and C and any equipment not sold on 

Exhibit A. 

  

 Passed and adopted this 6
th

 day of February, 2012. 

 

 

 

 

       ___________________________________ 

       John P. Steinbrink, President 

 

Attest: 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Jane M. Romanowski, Clerk 

 

Posted:_____________ 

 











 
Ordinance No. 12-09 

 
Ordinance to Amend Chapter 194 

of the Municipal Code of the 
Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin 

relating to licensing hours 
 
BE IT ORDAINED AND ESTABLISHED by the Village Board of Trustees of the Village of Pleasant 

Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin, that Chapter 194 is amended as follows: 
 

§ 194-6. License conditions and restrictions 

F. Closing hours.  

(1)  Premises for which a retail liquor and/or fermented malt beverage license has been issued either 
are prohibited from selling alcohol or cannot be open for business during the following hours in 
accordance with §§ 125.32(3) and 125.68(4), Wis. Stats.:  

 
License 

Off-Premises 
(Carry-Outs) On Premises Consumption 

 Class "A" beer 12:00 midnight to *8:00 a.m. Not permitted 

 Class "B" beer 12:00 midnight to 6:00 a.m. Monday to Friday, 2:00 a.m. to 6:00 a.m. 
Saturday to Sunday, 2:30 a.m. to 6:00 a.m. 

 "Class A" liquor 9:00 p.m. to *8:00 a.m. Not permitted 

 "Class B" liquor 12:00 midnight to 6:00 a.m. Monday to Friday, 2:00 a.m. to 6:00 a.m. 
Saturday to Sunday, 2:30 a.m. to 6:00 a.m. 

 "Class C" wine Not permitted Monday to Friday, 2:00 a.m. to 6:00 a.m. 
Saturday to Sunday, 2:30 a.m. to 6:00 a.m. 

 Note:  At 1:00 a.m. on the second Sunday in March daylight savings time begins and the standard of 
time which licensed establishments must operate under is advanced ahead one hour. Daylight 
savings ends at 2:00 a.m. on the first Sunday in November. At that time, the clocks are moved back 
one hour. 
 
*In accordance with 2011 Act 97 effective 12/21/2011, the allowable morning opening hours 
for retail beer and liquor stores may be changed to 6:00 a.m. but a municipality may impose 
more restrictive hours by ordinance.  The morning opening hours for Class A retail beer and 
liquor stores in the Village will continue to be 8:00 a.m. 

 

Passed and adopted this 6th day of February, 2012. 

   

 

      ____________________________________ 

      John P. Steinbrink, President 

Attest: 

 

 

____________________________ 

Jane M. Romanowski, Clerk 

 

Posted:_____________ 



Ordinance No. 12-10 
 

Ordinance to Amend Chapter 68 of the  
Municipal Code of the Village of Pleasant Prairie 

Kenosha County, Wisconsin 
relating to Municipal Facilities 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED AND ESTABLISHED by the Village Board of Trustees of 
the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin, that Chapter 68 is 

amended as follows: 
 
 

Article II. Rental of Roger Prange Municipal Center  
Fire Station No. 2 Training Room 

 
§ 68-14. Prohibited activities.  
 

The following activities are prohibited in the Village facilities:  
 

C. It shall be unlawful for any person, group or organization, other than duly 
appointed law enforcement officers, to have in his or its possession or under 

his or its control any firearm, air gun, bow and arrow or other weapon, 
explosives or fireworks, as defined by §§ 250-3 and 250-5 of this Code, of 
any kind or discharge any of the same while in or upon any of the Village 

facilities except as set forth in Section 175.60 Wis. Stats. 
 

Passed and adopted this 6th day of February, 2012. 
 
 

 
      ____________________________________ 

      John P. Steinbrink, President 
 
Attest: 

 
 

___________________________ 
Jane M. Romanowski, Clerk 
 

Posted:____________ 
 



 

9915 39th Avenue,   Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-6504   262.925.6721 FAX 262.694.4734 

Office of the Village Administrator 

Michael R. Pollocoff 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

 

TO:  Village Board 

 

FROM: Michael R. Pollocoff, Village Administrator 

 

DATE:  February 6, 2012 

 

SUBJECT: Amend Chapter 150-6 “Qualification requirements”  

___________________________________________________________  

 

It was recently noticed by the Village staff that there is ambiguity in the first sentence of 

Chapter 150-6 entitled “Qualification requirements” in the Municipal Code of Ordinances.  

The initial sentence of the current language reads: “No person shall be permitted to obtain 

bid proposal forms or related plans or specifications from the Village for the purpose of 

submitting a bid for work on any public improvement project, or to submit a bid for work on 

any public improvement project.”  It is apparent that there needs to be additional qualifying 

language in that first sentence in order to actually allow qualified persons to obtain the 

referenced materials. 

 

The proposed language is as follows:  

 

“No person shall be permitted to obtain bid proposal forms or related plans or 

specifications from the Village for the purpose of submitting a bid for work on any 

public improvement project, or to submit a bid for work on any public improvement 

project, unless such person is properly qualified pursuant to this chapter.  

Additionally, subject to § 150-7 below, it shall be unlawful to, and no person shall, 

act as a contractor or subcontractor on any public improvement project within the 

Village unless such person is duly qualified pursuant to this chapter.” 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

The Village staff recommends the Village Board approve the amendment as presented. 

 

 
Chapter 150-6 Qualifications (for Contractors) 

 

http://www.ecode360.com/9352193#9352205


ORDINANCE NO. 12-11 

ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 150-6  

OF THE VILLAGE MUNICIPAL ORDINANCE  

RELATED TO QUALIFICATION REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTORS 

IN THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, 

KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN 

THE VILLAGE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, 

KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN, DO ORDAIN THAT THE SECTION 150-6 OF THE 

VILLAGE MUNICIPAL CODE IS HEREBY CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS: 

“No person shall be permitted to obtain bid proposal forms or related plans or 

specifications from the Village for the purpose of submitting a bid for work on any 

public improvement project, or to submit a bid for work on any public improvement 

project, unless such person is properly qualified pursuant to this chapter.  

Additionally, subject to § 150-7 below, it shall be unlawful to, and no person shall, 

act as a contractor or subcontractor on any public improvement project within the 

Village unless such person is duly qualified pursuant to this chapter.” 

 

 

Adopted this 6th day of February, 2012. 

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

 

 

  

ATTEST:     John P. Steinbrink 

Village President 

 

 

  

Jane M. Romanowski 

Village Clerk 

 

 

Posted:    

 
Chapter 150-6 Qualifications 

http://www.ecode360.com/9352193#9352205


 

CLERK'S CERTIFICATION OF 

 BARTENDER LICENSE APPLICATIONS 

    Period Ending: January 31, 2012 

 

 

I, Jane M. Romanowski, Village Clerk of the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, 

Wisconsin, do hereby certify the following persons have applied for bartender licenses and each 

applicant is in compliance with the guidelines set forth in Chapter 194 of the Municipal 

Code.  I recommend approval of the applications for each person as follows:  

 

NAME OF APPLICANT    LICENSE TERM 

 

1. Lisa F. Biederman    thru June 30, 2013 

2. Lynda L. Bonn-Swift    thru June 30, 2013 

3. Sarah J. Gross     thru June 30, 2013 

4. Felicia M. Price    thru June 30, 2013 

5. David L. Taske    thru June 30, 2013 

    

      

 

 

 

 

Jane M. Romanowski 

Village Clerk     

 

 

 


	Agenda - February 6 2012
	Minutes - January 16 2012
	7A-E. Lynch Chevrolet Items
	Ord #12-06
	Ord #12-07
	Ord #12-08 
	DSIS Agreement and Access Easement
	CSM
	Waiver-water 109th Ave
	Waiver-Regional Basin
	Waiver-77th St
	Release of Easement

	7F. Police Dept Remodel Arch and Eng Agreement
	7G. Prelim Res 12-03  9230&9243 32nd Ave Wtr Main Improvements
	7H. Velosport Bicycle Race Packet
	7I. Dispose of F & R Dept Radio Equipment
	Resolution #12-04 Dispose of surplus radio equipment
	Exhibits A-C Lists of Equipment

	7J. Ord #12-09 Class A Beer and liquor stores 8 a.m open time
	7K. Ord #12-10 Municipal facilities amend Chapter 68
	7L. Memo - Ord #12-11 to amend Chapter 150-6
	Ord #12-11 - Chapter 150-6 Qualifications

	7M. Operator License Applications

